Case No. S____

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOHN C. DUNCAN, DIRECTOR OF INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, as ADMINISTRATOR of the SUBSEQUENT INJURIES BENEFITS TRUST FUND of the STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioner,

VS.

WORKERS' COMPENSATION APPEALS BOARD OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Respondent,

XYZZX SJO2,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No.: S_____.

(Court of Appeal Case No. H034040)

(WCAB Case No. ADJ1510738 (SJO 0251902))

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 4 - 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, SIXTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, CASE NO. H034040

PETITION FOR REVIEW AND POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT THEREOF

INTRODUCTION

Labor Code section 4659 subdivision (c) provides that employees injured on or after January 1, 2003, who become entitled to total permanent disability payments "shall have that payment increased annually commencing on January 1, 2004, and each January 1st thereafter, by an amount equal to the percentage increase in the state average weekly wage." The Court concluded that the increased payment is to be calculated retroactively to January 1, 2004, for all injured employees rather than from the date when the injured employee becomes "eligible for [such] benefits" or was injured. By fixing January 1, 2004 as the date when *payment* increases start for all cases, the Court misconstrued the plain meaning of the statute and reached an absurd result. For example, the Court's interpretation will apply increases to an injured employee's permanent disability payments *before* the injury and *before* a determination that an injured employee is medically eligible to receive payments. Review is necessary because the Court's interpretation is absurd and will dramatically raise the cost of providing these benefits contrary to the statute's language and plain meaning.

BACKGROUND

A. Traditional Methods of Setting Disability Payments Prior to Assembly Bill 749.

There are three types of disability payments an injured employee may become

² All further statutory references are to the Labor Code. All further references to the state average weekly wage will be to the "SAWW."

entitled to: (1) temporary disability; (2) permanent disability; and (3) life pension. Temporary disability is paid to compensate an injured employee for lost wages during medical recuperation from injury. (*Granado v. WCAB* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 399, 403-404; *Medrano v WCAB* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 56, 64.) Permanent disability is paid to compensate an injured employee for the long term, residual effects of his injury once the injured employee has attained maximum medical recovery. (*Department of Rehabilitation v WCAB* (*Lauher*) (2003) 30 Cal. 4th 1281, at 1291 ("*Dept. of Rehabilitation*").) Life pension is further compensation for injured employees with partial permanent disabilities between 70%-99% after their weekly payments of permanent disability end. (§ 4659, subd. (a).)

Temporary disability payments begin after an injury and continue until the employee either returns to work or reaches a medically stable condition, known as permanent and stationary ("P & S"). (*Granado, supra; Medrano, supra.*) Temporary disability is calculated as two-thirds of the employee's average weekly earnings (§§ 4653 and 4654) at date of injury, within maximum and minimum amounts set by the Legislature ("wage brackets"). (§ 4453, subd. (a).) With minor exception, temporary disability payments once fixed by referral to the employee's date of injury, historically have not increased.

The right to permanent disability payments commences when the employee becomes P & S, when the nature and degree of the employee's permanent disability is determined. (*Dept. of Rehabilitation, sup ra*, 30 Cal.4th at 1292; *LeBoeuf v. WCAB* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 234.) Payments for partial permanent disability are paid for a set number of weeks, as determined by statute; the weekly payments do not change. (§ 4658.) For employees who are 100% disabled (total permanent disability), they are paid the temporary disability payment amount for life. (§ 4659, subd. (b).) Without exception, payments for permanent disability historically were calculated based on an employee's date of injury and not increased thereafter. This includes such life time

payments as total permanent disability.

The life pension payments for life commence when the employee's payment of partial permanent disability ends. It continues for the remainder of the employee's life. (§ 4659, subd. (a).) As with permanent disability payments, life pension payments historically have not increased once an employee became eligible to receive them.

The initial payment rate for temporary disability, partial permanent disability, and life pensions has been calculated based on the injured employee's earnings on the date of injury within minimum and maximum limits. The above described methods for calculating payments have been in place for decades. (*Grossmont Hospital v. WCAB* (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 1348, 1353-1354; *West v. IAC* (1947) 79 Cal.App.2d 711, 721-724; *Argonaut Ins. Co. v. IAC* (*Montana*) (1962) 57 Cal.2d 589.)

B. Assembly Bill 749.

In 2002, the Legislature addressed the issue of long-term economic changes on benefit rates in an effort not to have to revisit benefit indemnity on a periodic basis.³ As the Legislature had done previously, it enacted increases to the "wage brackets" for injuries in calendar years 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively. (§ 4453, subds. (a)(8)-(10).)⁴ It also created a new mechanism to increase the wage bracket on an annual basis after 2006, without intervening legislative action, starting for injuries in 2007. After 2006, each succeeding year's wage brackets are henceforth increased from the previous year based on the percentage change in the SAWW calculated as of January 1,

³ See, for example, Stats 1937 ch. 90, amended Stats 1939 ch 308 2, Stats 1947 ch 1033 3, Stats 1951 ch 606 3, Stats 1955 ch 956 2, Stats 1957 ch 1996 3, Stats 1959 ch 1189 2, Stats 1961 ch 1621 2, Stats 1st Ex Sess 1968 ch 4, operative January 1, 1969, Stats 1971 ch 1330 1, ch 1750 7, operative April 1, 1972, Stats 1973 ch 1023 2, operative April 1, 1974, Stats 1974 ch 226 1, effective May 7, 1974, Stats 1975 ch 1263 11, operative January 1, 1977, Stats 1976 ch 1017 3, and repealed Stats 1977 ch 17 8, effective March 25, 1977, Stats 1977 ch 17 26, effective March 25, 1977. Amended Stats 1977 ch 1018 1; Stats 1980 ch 1042 1; Stats 1982 ch 922 7; Stats 1989 ch 892 29, ch 893 3; Stats 1990 ch 1550 29 (AB 2910). Amended Stats 1993 ch 121 37 (AB 110), effective July 16, 1993; Stats 2002 ch 6 57 (AB 749), ch 866 9 (AB 486).

⁴ "Wage brackets" refers to the minimum and maximum wage limits used to determine benefits.

2007.

(§ 4453, subd. (a).) Thus, the Legislature set in place automatic increases in temporary disability payments that it otherwise would have had to revisit as it has done in years past.

Additionally, the Legislature enacted a new mechanism, in subdivision (c) of Section 4659 to automatically increase the "payment" for total permanent disability on an annual basis based on percentage increases in the SAWW. Such payment increases did not exist previously; payments for total permanent disability and life pension were based on an employee's earnings on the date of their injury and never changed.

Because subdivision (c) potentially affected injured employees who were eligible for the first time for total permanent disability payments in 2003, the Legislature set the first date on which to calculate the percentage change in SAWW as January 1, 2004. These increases based on the SAWW were brand-new; they represented a new increase in the payments due the most severely injured employees. However, the Real Party in Interest raised a question as to *when* the increase took effect for employees injured after 2003.

The Court of Appeal was presented by the parties with two alternative interpretations for when benefit payment increases authorized by the Legislature began, yet chose a third interpretation. Petitioner argued that the increased benefit payments began on the January 1st after the first payment is due to the injured employee, based on changes in the SAWW in the prior calendar year. For those injured employees eligible for first payment in 2003, the payment increase started on January 1, 2004. Respondent WCAB and Real Party in Interest argued that the increased payment calculation was based on the increased SAWW as of the year following the date of injury.⁵

⁵ The Court of Appeal noted that the Workers' Compensation Administrative Law Judge ("WCALJ") found an interpretation that the increase starts on January 1, 2004 "somewhat puzzling" and that it was "highly improbable that the Legislature intended to grant costs of living increases to persons not yet injured." The Court of Appeal reached the identical interpretation that the WCALJ rejected but failed to address the issue he had

Approximately three weeks prior to oral argument, an amicus, California Association of Applicant's Attorneys ("CAAA"), proposed that *all* increases be retroactive to January 1, 2004. No party adopted this interpretation and no party had the opportunity to brief this issue before the matter was submitted. The Court appears to have adopted the amicus' interpretation with no prior notice to the parties. This interpretation was wrong as well as absurd for the reasons described below.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court's description of the administrative procedures below does not have to be repeated here. In brief, Applicant, who suffered from non-industrially related AIDS, was injured in his employment. Applicant received \$728.00 per week while he was temporarily disabled from January 20, 2004, through December 16, 2004, and from December 31, 2004 through October 19, 2006. He and his employer agreed that he was 69.5% partially permanently disabled from his industrial injury. Applicant's settlement with his employer provided for \$200.00 per week in permanent disability benefits for 422 weeks.

After the Applicant settled his claim with his employer, he filed an application for SIBTF benefits pursuant to section 4751. On March 25, 2008, SIBTF and Applicant stipulated that Applicant's January 20, 2004, injury resulted in a 69.5% industrial permanent disability, which became P&S on October 20, 2006; that October 20, 2006, was also the date of his first payment for permanent disability; and, that Applicant's previous permanent disability as a result of AIDS combined with his industrial disability resulted in a combined total permanent disability of 100%. Applicant would receive from SIBTF a payment of \$528.00 per week in total permanent disability as of October 20, 2006 (\$728.00 less \$200.00 paid by the insurance company).

)

The dispute here arose after Applicant claimed the initial \$728.00 weekly payment (to which he had agreed) that started October 20, 2006, had to be increased to reflect

raised of granting retroactive payment increases to people not yet injured. (infra.)

annual changes in the SAWW during his period of temporary disability (from the date of his injury, January 20, 2004, to the date his permanent disability payments became due, October 20, 2006). The claimed increase was based on calculating the increase as of January 1, 2005, and then compounding the rate due on January 1, 2006. SIBTF maintained that Applicant's initial payment as of October 20, 2006, was set by section 4659, subdivision (b) [total permanent disability rates] and increases to this payment amount were to be paid only for changes in the SAWW from that point forward. The first payment increase would be due on January 1, 2007.

On February 13, 2009, the WCAB issued its Opinion and Decision after Reconsideration that the increase commences as of the first January 1 after the date of injury (i.e., January 1, 2005). SIBTF sought review in the Court of Appeal on the ground that the increase in payment was not calculated until the January 1st after the first payment began. After argument, the Court issued a decision that rejected the interpretations by the parties in favor of what it considered the plain meaning of the statute, which interpretation the Workers' Compensation Administrative Law Judge ("WCALJ") who heard the matter found "puzzling" and "improbable:"

[W]hen an injured worker's total permanent disability payment, or life pension payment is calculated, that payment is subject to a COLA starting from January 1, 2004, and every January 1, thereafter.

The damage that the Decision creates is almost incalculable as it dramatically and disproportionately increases employees' benefit payments to the point that payments will rapidly exceed their weekly wages at the time of their injury.

Subdivision (c) of Section 4659 reads:

For injuries occurring on or after January 1, 2003, an employee who

This determination by the WCAB was the opposite of the one in reached in Ramon Loya v. Arrowhead Brass Products, State Compensation Insurance Fund (WCAB No. LAO 0856917) (January 22, 2008 Panel Decision), 2008 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. Lexis 87, in which it was found that payment increases only apply effective the January 1st after the injured employee actually began to receive a life pension.

becomes entitled to receive a life pension or total permanent disability indemnity as set forth in subdivisions (a) and (b) shall have that payment increased annually commencing on January 1, 2004, and each January 1, thereafter, by an amount equal to the percentage increase in the "state average weekly wage" as compared to the prior year. For purposes of this subdivision, "state average weekly wage" means the average weekly wage paid by employers to employees covered by unemployment insurance as reported by the United States Department of Labor for California for the 12 months ending March 31 of the calendar year preceding the year in which the injury occurred.

Respondent and Real Party argued that unless the increases started to apply immediately after the date of injury, the value of total permanent disability would be eroded by inflation because payment of this benefit sometimes does not start for many years. (Exhibit 1, pg. 12.) The Court rejected this argument for starting the increases after the date of injury because the argument was not based on any statutory language and failed to give significance to the statute's every word, phrase and sentence. (Exhibit 1, pgs. 12-13.)

The Court agreed with Petitioner that by using the words "an employee who becomes entitled to receive a life pension or total permanent disability indemnity" the Legislature meant "when the right to total permanent disability compensation or a life pension arises; and that is not until the employee's condition has become permanent and stationary for total permanent disability indemnity and for a life pension until after the number of weeks that permanent partial disability payments [sic] must be paid." (Exhibit 1, pgs. 13-14. [Emphasis in original.])

However, the Court rejected Petitioner's further argument that the Legislature used the word "payment" to mean something other than the rate determined for the respective benefit under other sections and noted that in the dictionary, "payment" is a synonym for "rate." (Exhibit 1., pg. 14.) The Court considered that permanent disability payments do not increase over time, as may occur with temporary disability payments. (See, § 4661.5.) The Court further postulated that if increases are set from the permanent and stationary date for total permanent disability indemnity, then a totally disabled employee whose injury takes years to stabilize suffers erosion in the real value of that benefit

during the years of healing before it is paid. (Exhibit 1, pgs. 16-17.)

The Court rationalized that since the Legislature apparently tried to rectify the problem of total permanent disability payments and life pensions not keeping pace with inflation by adding subdivision (c) to Section 4659 and since the Legislature could have written the statute to include date of injury or permanent and stationary date or date when life pension starts to commence but instead wrote "commencing January 1, 2004," then consequently it concluded the Legislature must have intended January 1, 2004 as the start date of the first increase for all cases. (Exhibit 1, pg. 17.) The Court surmised that the date of January 1, 2004, "makes sense when you consider that the maximum and minimum rates within which the employee's average weekly earnings must fall were set back in 2002." (*Id.*, fn. 9.)⁷ The Court completely ignored the fact that the Legislature enacted increases in temporary disability, on which total permanent disability payments are based, starting in 2003 and reaching indefinitely into the future.

ARGUMENT

REVIEW IS NECESSARY BECAUSE THE COURT CREATED A
DOUBLE ESCALATION OF PAYMENTS, WHICH WILL RESULT
IN DRAMATICALY INCREASED COSTS NOT INTENDED BY
THE LEGISLATURE.

Subdivision (c) of section 4659 sets the conditions for increasing weekly payments for two classes of benefits for employees whose injuries occurred on or after January 1, 2003: those who become "entitled to receive a life pension and those who become entitled to total permanent disability indemnity." Increases are calculated based on the SAWW, as defined in subdivision (c). Once an employee is eligible to receive total

⁷ The Court is factually incorrect on this point. While the latest amendment to increase the minimum and maximum rates was passed in 2002, that amendment enacted a series of increases to take effect to minimum and maximum rates for total permanent disability indemnity and life pension through 2006 and, in the case of total permanent disability indemnity, to continue increasing indefinitely into the future. (See §§ 4453, subds. (a)(8)-(10), and 4659, subds. (a) and (b).)

permanent disability indemnity, subdivision (c) sets the increase based on the change in the SAWW "in the prior year." When the Court determined that all payments for total permanent disability are to be increased based on changes to the SAWW after January 1 2004, it failed to take into account that temporary disability payments are already indexed to changes in the SAWW. As seen below, this decision causes dramatic changes in payment amounts over time.

The Court failed to keep in mind that the Legislature created one escalator for temporary disability benefit rates (§ 4453, subd. (a)), and a separate, second, escalator for total permanent disability payments (§ 4659, subd.(c), at issue here. Since total permanent disability payments are directly linked to temporary disability rates (§ 4659, subd. (b)), if the two escalators overlap, they result in double escalation. To prevent double escalation, the Legislature tied the second escalator to entitlement to prospective payments of total permanent disability.

The following examples illustrate the unintended dramatic increases that result from the Decision. A maximum wage earner, such as Real Party, injured in 2004 who is totally and permanently disabled in 2006 is entitled to an initial payment of \$728.00 per

⁸ The following chart shows the increases in the maximum weekly wage from which both temporary disability and total permanent disability are calculated as well as the simultaneous increases from the SAWW in total disability payments based on the Court's interpretation. These figures are through 2010, the last date for which SAWW increases have been announced.

Year	Escalator 1 (§4453.)	Escalator 2 (§4659, subd. (c).)
	Increase to Maximum Wage Bracket by set amount through 2005 and then by % increase in	Increase to Payment by
	amount through 2005 and then by % increase in SAWW	% increase in SAWW
2003	903 (by statute)	N/A
2004	1092 (by statute)	0.0 %
2005	1260 (by statute)	1.91668 %
2006	1260 or 1.5 of 2006 SAWW, whichever is	4.00813 %
	greater	
2007	2006 plus 4.95932 % SAWW	4.95932%
2008	2007 plus 3.93181 % SAWW	3.93181 %
2009	2008 plus 4.54843 % SAWW	4.54843 %
2010	2009 plus 2.9937 % SAWW	2.9937 %

week (1092.00 x 2/3 = \$728.00). A similar employee injured in 2007 who is totally and permanently disabled in 2009 would be entitled to \$881.66 per week ((1260.00 + 4.9% SAWW) x 2/3 = 881.66). These figures are based on the formula in section 4453, subdivision (a).

Under the terms of section 4659, subdivision (c) these initial payments will increase. The sole issue to be decided is *when* the payments increase. Under Petitioner's interpretation, the initial payment amounts set by statute would continue until the January 1st *after* payments began and thereafter be adjusted by increases in the SAWW for the prior year.

Under Respondent and Real Party's interpretation, the 2004 employee would have his or her *initial* payment raised for the increased SAWWs in 2005 and 2006 while the 2007 injured employee would have his or her *initial* payment raised for the increased SAWW in 2008 and 2009. In these two examples, the 2004 employee would initially received \$771.69 (instead of \$728.00) and the 2007 employee would receive 958.00 (instead of \$881.66) each week.

The Court's interpretation results in radically different amounts: The 2004 employee would initially receive \$771.69 per week in 2006, the same figure as Respondent reaches. However, the 2007 employee's initial weekly payment would be \$1,066.23 in 2009 because two escalators are being used: (1) an escalator in the initial disability payment amount set under section 4659, subdivision (b) (which uses the temporary disability rate found in section 4453, subdivision (a), including increases from 2003 to 2006) and (2) the court-imposed escalator that increases payments under the SAWW during the same time period.

The 2007 injured employee's initial payment is 38% higher than the 2004 injured employee's payment using the Court's interpretation. The disparity between the 2004 and 2007 employees under Respondent's method of calculating the increased payment is

24%; under Petitioner's interpretation it is 18% percent. This disparity flows directly from the double escalator the Court proscribed, which will continue to drive the disparity well into the future because essentially payments for total permanent disability will increase at twice the SAWW: once based on section 4453, subdivision (a) and once based on the Court's interpretation of section 4659, subdivision (c).

The disparity is more dramatically apparent for future injuries. A maximum wage employee such as Real Party injured and temporarily disabled in 2012 would be eligible for a temporary disability rate of approximately \$1,082.24 ((\$1,480.35 (max weekly wage in 2010) + 2011 SAWW + 2012 SAWW¹⁰) x 2/3). If this employee were P & S in 2014, then under Petitioner's view, the employee would continue to receive this rate until January 1, 2015. In January 2015, the payment rate would adjusted by the 2014 SAWW. Under Respondent's view, the initial payment rate would be increased by the 2013 and 2014 SAWW. However, under the Court's view, the initial rate would be \$1,621.13 because the temporary disability rate is adjusted based on *all* the SAWWs after 2004; in this example, the difference in the initial payments between the Court's interpretation and Petitioner's is 50%.

THE COURT MISCONSTRUED THE PLAIN MEANING OF SECTION 4659, SUBDIVISION (C) BECAUSE IT DID NOT FULLY CONSIDER THE STRUCTURE OF PAYMENTS IN THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION SYSTEM.

1. The Court Should Interpret Section 4659, Subdivision (c) Using
Settled Principles of Statutory Construction, Including The Obligation
Not To Reach Absurd Results.

The Court and Petitioner interpreted most of subdivision (c) of section 4659

The figure used for the estimated increased SAWW for the future is the 50 year historic average increase, 4.73%. See, *Loya*, supra at fn. 6.

⁹ Petitioner's calculations are consistent with the aggregate change in the SAWW from 2003 to 2009, which was 18.6%.

similarly. The Court found that the phrase "an employee who becomes entitled to receive . . . " refers to the date on which the employee becomes eligible for total permanent disability payments or life pension payments. This is correct. In the workers' compensation system an injured employee becomes entitled to receive total permanent disability payments on their P & S date. (*Dept. of Rehabilitation, sup ra*, 30 Cal.4th at 1292.) An injured employee is entitled to receive life pension payments on the day after the last payment of partial permanent disability has been paid. (§ 4659, subd. (a).)

Where the Court erred in its interpretation was the next part of the sentence ("shall have that payment increased annually commencing on January 1, 2004 and each January thereafter . . ."). The Court erroneously divorced the word "payment" from the entitlement date and irrevocably set all increases to January 1, 2004, regardless of the date payment begins. A more reasonable interpretation would have been to interpret January 1, 2004, as the first date for any increased payment for those already eligible for total permanent disability. In doing so, the Court nullified the plain meaning of the phrase "entitled to receive." Thus, the Court's interpretation must be rejected as absurd because the Decision results in increases before payment is ever due, before an employee is entitled to a payment, and even before the employee is injured.

This Court's primary task requires that it determine the Legislature's intent in passing AB 749 through the language in the statute, the Legislature's expressed intent, and administrative interpretations of the statute:

The fundamental rule of statutory construction is that a court should ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. In construing a statute, our first task is to look to the language of the statute itself. When the language is clear and there is no uncertainty as to the legislative intent, we look no further and simply enforce the statute according to its terms.

(Dubois v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (1993) 5 Cal.4th 382, 387-388 (internal citations omitted).) When examining the language of a statute itself, consideration must be given to the context of the entire statute within which the language is used and the statutory scheme of which it is a part. (Id.) Of paramount importance is

that the Court not interpret a statute so as to reach absurd results. (*Miklosy v. Regents of University of California* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 876, 898.)

A statute should be interpreted based both on giving meaning to all of its words, within the context of the entire enactment. (*Moyer v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board* (1973) 10 Cal.3d 222.) "Moreover, the various parts of a statutory enactment must be harmonized by considering the particular clause or section in the context of the statutory framework as a whole." (*Id.* at 230.) Part of this context is the presumption that the Legislature is aware of how the statute is currently interpreted. (*Stone Street Capital, LLC v. California State Lottery Com'n* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 109, 118.)

The Court failed to adequately address these principles in reaching its determination that the increases in permanent disability payments are perpetually calculated retroactively to January 1, 2004. It interpreted section 4659, subdivision (c) without regard to increases in the underlying temporary disability rate and thereby created the double escalator described above. In doing so, it reached an absurd result. Instead, the Legislature created an escalator to address the erosion of benefits to some, but not all, permanently disabled employees. The Court failed to take into account the context within which this escalator was created and its decision is contrary to the established payment structures of the workers' compensation system.

2. The Court's Statutory Interpretation of Section 4659, Subdivision(c) Reaches An Absurd Result; the Creation of a Double EscalatorMust be Rejected.

The essence of the Court's error is its belief that "shall have that payment increased annually commencing on January 1, 2004, and each January 1 thereafter. . ." required a fixed date back to which all future increases in payments were to be made. As seen above, this interpretation ignores other increases and results in a doubling effect. The sole basis for such an interpretation is the Court's view that the Legislature could have used more precise language. However, the statute's language is not so imprecise

that it cannot be interpreted without reaching an absurd result.

The Court ignored the fact that indexing payments once they become due is a new type of increase in benefits. Had the Legislature intended as dramatic an increase as the Court found, it would surely have indicated such an intent in the statute. Yet, as the Court itself noted, the legislative history of AB 749 is silent. The Court ignored the Legislature's silence and reached a result never clearly intended.

An interpretation more consistent with all of AB 749 is that the reference to January 1, 2004, was to set the first date on which a SAWW had to be calculated for those payments of total permanent disability that first became due in 2003. Without creating the initial date, all participants would have been at a loss on when to first make or receive an increased payment once total permanent disability began. Thus, January 1, 2004, is simply the first of "each January 1 thereafter." (§ 4659, subd. (c).) In this way, the Legislature created a mechanism in subdivision (c) for increases in payments for total permanent disability calculated on an annual basis as of the January 1st after payments were to begin. This interpretation avoids the double escalator that the Court created.

3. The Court's Interpretation Is Based On A Misunderstanding Of All The Provisions Of AB 749.

The Court's ultimate rational for creating a double escalator was its belief that temporary disability rates were not changed after 2002. (Exhibit 1, pg. 17, n. 9) This matters because temporary disability rates determine total permanent disability payments; they are tied together by statute as total permanent disability payments are initially calculated with reference to them. (§ 4569, subd. (b).) The Court's rationale is wrong, however, because it is factually inaccurate. The Legislature did in fact increase temporary disability rates specifically by statute, and in AB 749 created a new system of annual increases in the rates that does not require legislative action. That is, for the first time, temporary disability rates automatically increased each year, thereby creating its own escalator to offset increases in the state's wage scale. The Court did not take into

account this change in setting temporary disability rates, which sets the amount the initial payment for total permanent disability.

Similarly the Court ignored the administrative law judge's characterization of the interpretation the Court ultimately gave to section 4659, subdivision (c) as "puzzling." If the administrative agency charged with the administration of a statutory scheme found an interpretation puzzling, this is further support that the Court's interpretation leads to an incorrect and absurd result.

CONCLUSION

The inevitable result of the Court's interpretation of mandated increases for total permanent disability payments will result in a doubly compounding increase in benefits that is both financially overwhelming and legally absurd. It makes sense that the Legislature would create a system that allows temporary disability payments to keep up with changes in the wages paid to California employees. It makes sense that the Legislature would ensure that the more severely injured employees' paid-for-life benefits would rise once they became due. However, it makes no sense that the Legislature, having never before created a mechanism to increase these payments, would in the first instance have created a double escalator. Thus, for all the foregoing reasons, the Court

should grant the Petition for Writ of Review and the WCAB's decision should be vacated and annulled.