Supreme Court Copy

Supreme Court No. S179194

WCAB Case No.: ADJ1510738/SJO 0251902

Sixth App. Dist.No. H034040

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Clerk

JOHN C. DUNCAN, DIRECTOR of INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, as ADMINISTRATOR of the Adv. SUBSEQUENT INJURIES BENEFITS TRUST FUND of the STATE OF CALIFORNIA	SUPREME COUF SUPREME COUF FILED JAN 1 3 2010 Frederick K. Ohlrich
Petitioner,)
) Deputy
v.)
)
THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION)
APPEALS BOARD OF THE STATE)
OF CALIFORNIA,)
·)
Respondent.)
<u> </u>	_)
)
XYZZX SJO2,)
Respondent.	.)
Real Party in Interest.)

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

Arthur L. Johnson, Esq., State Bar No. 36415

TO THE HONORABLE CHIEF JUSTICE AND THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT:

Real Party in Interest, XYZZX SJO2, hereby answers Petition for Review and responds to the Points and Authorities of Petitioner/Defendants JOHN C. DUNCAN, DIRECTOR of INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, as ADMINISTRATOR of the SUBSEQUENT INJURIES BENEFITS TRUST FUND of the STATE OF CALIFORNIA as follows:

- This response will be brief, as the potential issue raised by Petitioner ("double COLA") is not now before the Court, is not ripe now for decision, and must first be addressed by the WCAB Trial Judge before coming before this Court.
- 2. This for the reason that the "Disposition" per the Decision of the Sixth District Court of Appeal was:
 - "The COLAs found in section 4659, subdivision (c) should be applied to life pensions or total permanent disability compensation as from January 1, 2004. Accordingly, the Decision of the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board is annulled and the case is remanded to the WCAB for further proceedings."
- 3. There is no reason to apply a "double COLA" when there already has been a COLA applied to the temporary disability rate, which meets the requirements of Labor Code §4659(c).

- 4. It seems clear that the mandates of L.C. §4659(c) will only apply to the time period when there has not already been a COLA increase applied to temporary disability. That would be for all payments after the date of injury, when temporary disability increases stop accruing under Labor Code §4453(a)(10).
- 5. Applicant (real party in interest XYZZX) is <u>not</u> contending for a "double COLA". In fact it seems impossible to the undersigned that the WCAB Judge in this case, Judge Lauerman on remand, would have it in his mind to award a "double COLA". This seems absolutely farfetched.
- 6. It appears to the undersigned attorneys, that the raising of the issue of "double COLA" is simply a "strawman" raised for the purpose of attracting the Court's attention to a hypothetical "what if" scenario, that has not occurred. Since this matter has been remanded to the WCAB for a decision consistent with the opinion of the Sixth District Court of Appeal, there is no "issue" to appeal from as to a "double COLA" which has not yet been imposed and which is extremely unlikely to be a scenario that unfolds on remand.

WHEREFORE, Real Party in Interest respectfully prays:

- 1. That Petition for Writ of Review be denied on the basis that the Writ is "premature" as to any issues raised in the Writ.
- 2. That there is no issue "ripe" for decision, pending decision of the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board on remand from the Sixth District as to the proper determination of the COLA increase of total permanent disability in this case.

Dated: January 12, 2010

Respectfully submitted, BUTTS AND JOHNSON

By: Arthur L. Johnson,

Attorney for Real party in interest

Dated: January 12, 2010

Respectfully submitted, BUTTS AND JOHNSON

By: Heather A. Harper,

Attorney for Real party in interest

VERIFICATION

Under penalty of perjury, I declare the truth of the following:

The contents of the foregoing ANSWER TO PETITION FOR

REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT, are true and correct of my own

knowledge except as to matters therein stated on information and belief, and
as to those matters, I believe them to be true and correct; I make this

verification as attorney for XYZZXSJO2, because the facts set forth in the

Answer are within my knowledge and because as attorney for XYZZXSJO2

I have greater knowledge of the facts. Executed Januar 12, 2010, at San

Jose, California.

Arthur L. Johnson

VERIFICATION

Under penalty of perjury, I declare the truth of the following:

The contents of the foregoing ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY

THE SUPREME COURT, are true and correct of my own knowledge except
as to matters therein stated on information and belief, and as to those
matters, I believe them to be true and correct; I make this verification as
attorney for XYZZXSJO2, because the facts set forth in the Answer are
within my knowledge and because as attorney for XYZZXSJO2 I have
greater knowledge of the facts. Executed January 12, 2010, at San Jose,
California.

Heather A. Harper